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JUDGMENT

HHJ WATSON: 

1. By way of introduction, the court is concerned with four children: J, born on 8 March 2005, who is 10, C, born on 16 June 2006, who is eight, B, born on 5 May 2009, now five, and S, born on 6 August 2011, who is three and a half.
2. The mother of all four children is M and the father of the three youngest H. J’s father is unknown. I shall refer to the parents as Mother and Father. The parents separated in July 2013 and the two boys resided with their father and the two girls with Mother.

3. The Local Authority commenced proceedings on 9 April 2014. The case is coming up to its anniversary and there has been delay because of the complexities in the presenting behaviours of these four children.

4. On 28 May 2014, the Local Authority were successful in their application for an interim supervision order in respect of J and S, but no orders were sought for the two boys at the hearing itself.  Then a very dramatic turn of events occurred and, on 2 July 2014, the two boys were received into foster care under interim care orders following Father having taken an overdose on the evening of 30 June 2014 and being admitted to hospital.  The two girls at that time remained with their mother.

5. Father’s presentation was, of course, a cause for concern and a psychological report was commissioned from Dr P, which raised significant concerns about Father’s ability to regulate his own emotional and psychological needs, and concluded that he would not be able to meet the needs of his children if returned to his care without extensive therapy.
6. A positive assessment of the maternal grandparents, who reside in Scotland, was made in support of a special guardianship order, but the recommendation was in respect of the two girls only. On Wednesday, 10 September, there was a further development when J disclosed at school that her mother’s boyfriend had that morning pushed her upstairs and then, when she had looked out of the bedroom window, he had smacked her on the bottom, and J said she did not like him and she was scared of him. This was the trigger for an application for the removal of the two girls into foster care, which was done under an interim care order on 17 September 2014. This prompted an application to re-timetable because of the comprehensive assessment to be undertaken in respect of the four children by Dr S, the child psychologist.
7. The children were initially placed in sibling groups of two but, due to the fighting between J and S, the two girls were separated and J moved to a new foster placement. C’s placement also broke down and he and B were placed in separate foster placements. J and C have displayed increasingly disturbing behaviour and both have been referred to CAMHS.  S has also displayed aggressive behaviour in foster care and has been receiving play therapy.

8. The Local Authority seeks care orders in respect of the four children and the care planning for each child is different. For J, it is long-term foster care, for C, a time‑limited search for a therapeutic foster placement and then a residential placement, and the care plans for B and S are adoption. The Local Authority seeks placement orders and orders dispensing with the parents’ consent.

9. Father is putting himself forward to care for the three younger children and Mother seeks the return of the two younger children, either to her sole care, or to the care herself and the maternal grandmother, each caring for one child. The maternal grandparents have travelled down from Scotland and wish to keep the two younger children within the family, if at all possible, and would give up work if necessary to care for B and S.

10. The representation of the parties is as follows: Ms Briggs for the Local Authority, Coventry City Council; Mr Bainham for Mother; Ms Eveleigh‑Winstone for Father. Ms S and Mr C are acting in person; they have represented themselves and have done that very well indeed. Mr Allen represents the children in the proceedings through the children’s guardian.

11. I heard evidence from the current social worker, Ms C the previous social worker, Ms B, the psychologist, Dr S, the assistant director of Children’s Services, Mother, Father, and both the maternal grandmother, Ms S, and her partner, Mr C, and of course from the children’s guardian.
12. All counsel have addressed me in closing submissions and Father has written personally to me in the form of a letter which represents his thoughts. That letter was copied to all parties and he, in addition, has supplied character references. Ms S and Mr C gave evidence but also addressed me in closing submissions.

13. Mr Bainham, on behalf of Mother, said his client is in a better place now than she was in June 2014. Father, in his letter written directly to me, says that he used to smack his children’s bottoms as a form of discipline but that was until he attended the Triple P course. He said, ‘I have made some terrible mistakes’, but also said, ‘I have had to defend myself throughout the case because of lies and accusations’. He wrote quite disarmingly and openly in his letter addressed to me and there is one particular sentence which I wish to refer to when he said this: ‘I admit I do not entirely understand the extent of the emotional harm on my children but I know what all this has done to me’, and then a little later said, ‘I am not sure I can take much more’.
14. The grandparents told me in closing submissions, in respect of their wish to care for  B and S, that ‘because they are our grandchildren’ they would not give up if things got difficult, but also said that, if the decision of the court went against them, that they would respect the decision of the court.

15. I have not found this an easy case to decide.  I will begin with my review of the evidence before turning to my decision. I heard evidence from Ms S, a social worker from southern neighbourhood team, Willenhall. She was allocated to the case from September 2014, by which time all the children were in foster care. The placement, she told the court, for C, is to be the C Foundation, a small residential unit which is able to meet his needs, the Local Authority, at the time of her evidence, having stopped their search for a therapeutic foster placement. Ms C had not seen the residential unit but she understood from the assistant director, Y C, that it was a suitable unit and one that the assistant director had good knowledge of. She said that this was not her decision but that the Authority had been left with no other option at the meeting which took place on 24 February 2015.

16. She described C as very challenging. She said he has hit his foster carer.  It is a specialist placement but she is a single carer. There have been repeated breakdowns in C’s placements and his behaviour is becoming more and more forceful. A referral has been made to CAMHS, but not for a psychiatric assessment. The difficulties with C are so frequent and extreme that they are looking to move him on from the current placement because it is becoming impossible to sustain him in his current placement.

17. She described how all family contacts are difficult for C and impact on his behaviour in placement both before and after contact, and that is also true of the extended family contacts, of which she said there have been three or perhaps four. She said it would aid his recovery if contact were reduced to annual letterbox contact. Carers would need to assess whether he should even receive that.  She said that contact with siblings is to be promoted over the contact with parents and it is anticipated that there would be direct contact with J. Direct contact between C, B and S would depend where they are and, at the time of her evidence, certainly, there was no plan for direct contact. That position has moved on slightly and there have been some amendments to the care plans following her giving her evidence.
18. As far as J’s placement, three different placements have been tried for J and now it has been decided that she should be the only child in placement so she can receive one‑to‑one attention. The daughter of her present carer, who is also a foster carer, has come forward and last weekend, so the weekend before last, J moved in with her. This has been successful, certainly so far, because J sees this as moving on within a foster family and not a rejection. J in many ways is calming down and, at the present time, a CAMHS referral is not seen as absolutely necessary, but she has been referred to the Time for You counsellor at school. J does not need to move school now and she can maintain her excellent relationship with her learning mentor at school. J seems to be more settled and is making progress. Her current carers gave notice to end the placement on 13 February, but have worked with the Local Authority and J to assist in J’s move, and J’s behaviour has improved as she saw it as being given a second chance.

19. There has been no sibling contact for a couple of months because of the high levels of anxiety shown by all the children around contact, but this is kept constantly under review. She said that the children do not ask about each other.

20. The plan for B and S is adoption, but the Local Authority intend to canvas direct sibling contact with the prospective adopters. This is likely to be difficult and, if there are difficulties, then indirect contact would be the default position. Should B and S be placed with their grandparents, this would make contact between the siblings very difficult and could be damaging, particularly for the two older children because of what is described as preferential rejection experienced by the two older children, whereby they would feel that they were not good enough to be placed within the extended family.
21. B was described in many ways as presenting as a typical five‑year‑old. The worry for Ms C being that he internalised his emotions. He becomes withdrawn. He is getting on well at school but a recent contact on 17 February this year caused upset for B. During the contact, his father had told him that he was coming home and this had taken place whilst B was being put into the foster carer’s car at the end of contact. There is a dispute over whether B initiated this conversation, by asking whether his father was well, or whether B’s question was a response to his father’s statement. What is not disputed is that this was heard by the foster carer, who knew this would be unsettling for B, and took him for his favourite Burger King to try to make it an easier situation for B. B did not eat but became withdrawn and moody and the evidence from the foster carer is that he remained in low mood and off his food for several days afterwards.

22. The recommended placement for B is an adoptive placement. It will be a time‑limited search for B. It will be a sole placement with adopters. B does not have a significant relationship with his grandparents in Scotland because there was a poor relationship between his mother and the grandparents. There was limited contact and all contact, which latterly was telephone contact, ceased some six weeks ago. Contact between B and S could be direct at a minimum of twice a year if both were in local adoptive placements.

23. S, as the youngest child, has had less exposure to parenting but has her own emotional difficulties. B and S interact without too much verbal abuse but do not play with each other.  They have a relationship which could be developed but they do not seek each other out at present because J and S have contact together with their parents and J is in a very delicate emotional state and would react badly if she learnt that S was seeing B and she was not.

24. S’s placement: S has settled very well since her separation when J moved out of the placement. She is described as having found her voice. She is engaged in play therapy and has been referred for occupational therapy to desensitise her from her sensitivity trauma to things as diverse as hairbrushes and being placed in a car seat. That she has been able to settle bodes well, the social worker says, for a transfer of attachment to adoptive carers.
25. The special guardianship assessment was completed in September 2014 after Ms C became social worker, but before the level of need for any of the children was known. She said that Mother has not been able to demonstrate a willingness to change and to cooperate with the Local Authority. She has been supported through the common assessment framework but still the partying has continued and the frequent visitors to the home and her inability to dissociate herself from undesirable contacts. A school report supported a CAMHS referral but this was not taken to the general practitioner by Mother. The family worker tried to work with Mother around routines and boundaries but Mother would either not be in or not answer her door and did not attend sessions so in fact they had to be abandoned through lack of engagement. Mother did not attend a looked‑after children review in January 2015 during the proceedings themselves, but has been much more cooperative leading up to the final hearing.

26. The social worker says that she cannot support the grandparents, who are Mother’s fall‑back position. This is because assessment of Dr S of them was negative and she has indicated that the Local Authority has to look at the children’s needs and, put very simply, the grandparents cannot meet them. There are, she says, positives in that Ms S is employed as a carer herself for vulnerable adults and the contact sessions in themselves are fine. There are no concerns about the way the grandparents behave in face‑to‑face contact or indeed in telephone contact, which was put on loudspeaker so that the foster carers could hear. The difficulty is in the reaction of the children to those contact visits. Initially, the Local Authority had some difficulty sharing information with the grandparents, who were not parties, but, since they have become parties, the communication between them has been good.
27. Ms C said that Ms S could be quite demanding but Ms C readily accepted that this could have been her forthright Scottish manner.  It is accepted that they were positively assessed both by the previous social worker, K B, and by T M, the Connected Persons assessor, who prepared the special guardianship report.

28. There were some earlier concerns about whether the grandparents were accepting the need for independent supervision of Mother’s contact but these have recently been dispelled and it became clear that the grandparents would welcome independent supervision of Mother’s contact if B and S were in their care.

29. Although Mother and the maternal grandparents are getting on much better now, that has not always been the case and their relationship can blow hot and cold, is how this Ms C described it. The concerns are about the children’s reaction after contact and the reaction seems to be triggered by any form of family contact.

30. Father is seeking the return of C first, followed by B and J. Ms C could not countenance such a move. The two boys were placed with him at a time when he was living with his wife, Mrs Mrs H, and at that time there was a measure of stability and the boys showed better presentation and attendance at school, but this was completely subsumed by grave concerns identified as that relationship broke down and H became more controlling within the relationship and it culminated in a serious suicide attempt when H, alone in the house, caring for his two sons and two stepsons, took an overdose which rendered him unconscious. He had text his partner and her brother to return, left a suicide note, but fortunately they returned in time and an ambulance was called and he was admitted to hospital. It is not difficult to imagine the distress that such an incident would have caused the two boys if they had become aware of it. What happened was sufficiently traumatic for them as it resulted in them being placed in foster care.
31. Ms C, in her evidence, said she had been unable to gain any cooperation from H. He refused to come into the office to discuss domestic abuse and, even when difficulties occurred during contact, she was unable to persuade him to discuss any methods of improving his handling of C within contact. She described his manner as offensive. He would swear at her on the telephone and used quite unacceptable language: ‘I am not F‑ing coming into the office. I am not getting the kids back. What is the F‑ing point?’ She said this was said at a time when he was yet to be assessed by the psychologist. She described how he would use a range of emotions to control the social worker. He could switch on and off his tears. Her assessment was that his behaviour was typical of a domestic violence perpetrator. H’s handling of C’s behaviour in contact was so concerning to the social worker that contact had to be suspended.

32. I heard evidence from both parents and I have to say that the contrast in their evidence could not have been greater. Ms M was anxious to give her evidence and was able to give a good account of herself. She described how she had made some changes and had been able to admit her faults to herself. She does not drink now and has not drunk for a year. She admits that she exposed her children to a series of domestic violent relationships and prioritised her need to be in a relationship above the needs of her children.

33. She did take out a non‑molestation order against H and, when he breached it, she agreed that she sought to withdraw the order. She agreed that she dropped the charges against H when he assaulted her whilst pregnant in 2008.  She described how, when H raised his hand to her in 2013, she flinched. She said in her evidence there was no attempt to hide the abusive, violent, chaotic lifestyle which the children were exposed to and she accepted that the children had witnessed H assault her both physically and verbally. As for the physical assault, she said J had witnessed that and the verbal assaults all four children and the children had been present and had also seen her pinned against the wall by the throat by H. She did not deny that the work that she now wants to do by revisiting Triple P is work that she has done previously. She also recognised that although recently she has commenced counselling at the Haven to address domestic abuse, all of this had been offered to her in 2012, 2013 and 2014 but, at that time, she did not engage.
34. Mother said she would like B and S to come home but realistically recognises that she has not cared for B for some time and would settle for S returning alone. In some direct questioning from the court, she accepted that she needs to do the work and only if it is done would she be in a sufficiently strong position to put herself forward as a sole carer. She accepted that she has not yet done that work and that she has just started down the therapeutic route and that she is not in the place that she needs to be in order to have any of her children returned to her care.

35. The proof that she has not been able to implement her desire to change perhaps has been graphically illustrated by her inability to keep herself safe. She told the court that the Local Authority was concerned about the late‑night parties and the unwanted visitors in the home, and her inability to exclude undesirable visitors. She could name those individuals: Mr M, Ms R, Mr L and Mr T, but, on 17 February of this year, the housing officer made an unannounced visit to her home during the day. M was not in. She was at a court hearing but there was loud music at levels which caused the housing officer to believe that there was a party within the house. The housing officer saw young children at the upstairs window of the property and she said that the occupants would not answer the door.

36. M, in her evidence, said the occupant was a friend named Z, who is staying with her apparently as a favour, because Z goes to a college around the corner from where M lives. M has told her not to invite Z’s sister and children over and not to play loud music but it would appear that Z had completely ignored what M had said and in my judgment Z has taken advantage of M and at the final hearing M was able to accept that Z should have gone earlier but she has now asked Z to leave but told the court that Z’s belongings are still in her property.

37. The children are not with M at the current time but, nevertheless, it is evident that she is still unable to implement basic changes that will keep her safe and ensure that she is not taken advantage of again. To her credit, Mother has improved her relationship with the maternal grandmother and has expressed an intention to return to Scotland, recognising that if she had listened to her mother in the past she would very likely not be where she is now.
38. Historically, M has been unable to prioritise the needs of her children over her desire for relationships with inappropriate and violent partners. She has not protected her children from exposure to frightening and harmful situations and she has not engaged with the help offered to her.

39. The children and all of them have been deeply affected by that poor parenting. To her credit, Mother acknowledges that her children have suffered emotional harm whilst in her care and in the care of H. She said in her evidence that there were better times and some happy times for the family but the evidence of the child psychologist, Dr S, is overwhelming and incontrovertible. The children are all deeply affected and greatly harmed.  They have been damaged by their experiences within the home.

40. The evidence of Father, H, was very informative. He had been very reluctant to go into the witness box to give evidence, as he was in emotional turmoil, yet, when he gave his evidence, he was articulate, forthright and forceful. His recollection was clear and he described events vividly and without difficulty. What he was wholly unable to do was to understand how his behaviour impacted on his partners and his children. His evidence was from start to finish a complete denial of any responsibility for what has occurred to his children. He told the court he had never witnessed any tantrums or bad behaviour by C.  He acknowledged that nursery and school reported tantrums, as did M, but he never saw any of that behaviour. He said that he attended nursery when there were reports of bad behaviour by C and also in year two, when C, aged six, was excluded, but he had not seen the behaviour himself.  He did not recognise any mimicking of his own behaviour in C.

41. The foster carer had reported to the guardian that when first in care C had said to her in these terms ‘get my fucking dinner bitch’. When challenged, he said that that was what his father said to his mother.  C’s behaviour with Father was described by Father as not being problematic and that all C’s behaviour was as a result of his being taken into care.

42. Father did regret being violent on one occasion to M but explained away his behaviour by saying he was justified in his response because M had been cheating on him and he lost his rag when M lied to him. He said that J and C were present in 2008 and acknowledged that when he assaulted her M was pregnant with B. He said that when he raised his hand to M in 2012, or indeed perhaps it is 2013, J had screamed and he stopped. When asked about loss of control, H replied that he thought he did a good job of controlling himself.
43. He described Mrs H, his former wife, as a cheat, that she had left him alone with the children. When he took the overdose, he said that Mrs H had done one of her disappearing acts. He did not agree that Mrs H was a good mother and had brought stability to the children during their marriage. On the contrary, she had left him to care for the children, both hers and his own.
44. When the description of his behaviour in contact, when the supervisor had telephoned for support, was put to him (H in contact had become very angry when C had refused to mop up a spilt drink) he did not dispute that he had reacted in that way. On another occasion, the contact supervisors describe H as spitting and foaming at the mouth when addressing C and Father did not dispute that he had behaved in that way but disagreed that he had punched C in the leg, saying that it was not the leg but a punch to the seat in the area of the leg which had occurred.

45. He agreed that the sentiments set out in the contact log, that what C needed was a good slap, were indeed correct, and said that when he had been smacked in the past C’s behaviour had improved. He acknowledged that on that occasion B had been told by his father that the contact had been brought to an end because of C’s behaviour during the contact. It certainly appeared to the court that Father was unable to accept that it was his behaviour in contact which had brought contact to an end and not the behaviour of C, nor indeed the behaviour of B, nor could he recognise in his evidence that this is an example of C copying behaviour that he has observed in his own father, H.
46. Dr P’s recommendation for therapy, both schema therapy and dialectical therapy, has not been accessed by Father. He said at the time of that assessment he had been severely depressed and needed that sort of help then but he does not need help now, indeed he has been prescribed antidepressants but has not needed to return for his repeat prescription because he does not have the same difficulties now. He, in his evidence, said he did not need therapy to address the issues now but agreed that he would accept any help if it was felt that that is what he needed.

47. The difficulty with H’s evidence is that he has been offered help through the social worker but he was wholly unable to go into the office to discuss how better able to control his behaviours in front of C and during contact. Father said that is correct, he had not been able to go into the office but that was because he felt angry and distraught. There is a mismatch between the evidence that Father gives about his lack of need for assistance in addressing his anger issues and the evidence from those trying to work with him.

48. In my judgment, the analysis of Dr P, the jointly instructed psychologist, who assessed H and reported on 5 September, is helpful, constructive and entirely correct. I adopt the analysis of Dr P and the well‑evidenced conclusion that H has a number of personality traits and facets that have a significant impact on his ability to regulate affect appropriately, to form and maintain adaptive interpersonal relationships, to empathise with others and to maintain appropriate day‑to‑day functioning. Without significant psychotherapeutic input and engagement, the likelihood of H being able to provide good enough parenting is very low.
49. I turn now to the evidence of Dr S. In my judgment, her evidence is the key to my decision because it looks at the behaviours of the children and analyses why the children are presenting in the way that they do. Her report dated 11 December 2014 is a thorough, comprehensive and well‑supported analysis of each of the children based on cognitive assessment and clinical assessment, using such tools as the Bene‑Anthony Family Relations Test, and Story Stem.
50. J at age 10 is posting cards in respect of her mother which indicate ‘this person talks to me about stuff that makes me uncomfortable’ and of her father a person who hurts her mum sometimes. ‘This is a person my mum is frightened of’. She described herself to the assistant psychologist as a piece of garbage which is an unusual comment for any child to make, but Dr S explained not amongst children who have been maltreated. The professional analysis is that J has a concerning profile in which the majority of her feelings negative and the sibling relationships, usually such important relationships, are characterised by conflict and competition.  J, in the opinion of Dr S, has clearly witnessed domestic violence and as a result has very low self‑esteem. The comments attributed to J are extremely worrying and when her foster carer and learning mentor were asked to answer questions relating to J’s behaviour, there were exceptionally high scores indicating significant difficulties with her attachment pattern, emotional wellbeing and behavioural presentation.

51. C, aged eight, did not want to engage in the assessment process but cooperated with Dr S when he was advised that the tests were akin to spy school and putting things into code, but when the psychologist tried to talk about what should happen to him he curled up in a ball and went into what is described as a fight mode, demonstrating psychological arousal and an inability to regulate his emotional state. His story stem centred around violence and death. The stories were short, tragic and ended in violence and death, which indicate a great deal of fear about endings and people disappearing, and Dr Silver was very clear what is evident is the presence of extreme violence and the absence of any nurture, praise or emotional warmth whatsoever in his parenting.

52. C’s foster carer described extremely challenging behaviour which manifested itself in screaming, swearing, running off, trashing his bedroom, refusing to shower or brush his teeth.

53. B, aged five, presented as of more typical ability and with a more normal presentation, but the analysis of Dr S was that this could be accounted for by the presence of his older siblings who would take on the brunt of the stressful situations and also because at the time of assessment B had been in foster care for some eight to 10 months. B’s story stems were bereft of emotional warmth or praise and were also characterised by high levels of interpersonal violence and death.

54. Dr S described them as the story stems of a very troubled little boy with a high level of aggression in his working model, so that even if this is not currently showing in his behaviour, his profile is nevertheless described as unhappy.
55. S was too young at three to complete the psychological assessments, but her foster carer was interviewed and described a little girl who could be lovely and funny but if crossed, if you say no to her, she would collapse and cry.  S is described as having a problem getting into the car seat when she would go stiff and also described by her foster carer as staring and doing a lot of watching.
56. Dr S, in her response to the questions of her letter of instruction, described the children as having severely damaged internal working models of attachment and highly challenging behaviour due to maltreatment and exposure to domestic violence. The relationships with both of their parents are poor. The sibling relationships are aggressive and competitive. The children are harmed by the care they have received to date and are primed for constant readiness for fight or flight. The two older children are so disturbed by their experiences that it is likely CAMHS should be involved to consult with caregivers. Due to the harm being chronic and the care so chaotic, the recovery will take a significant period of time, reflecting that the two older children are amongst the top 10 when it comes to the most concerning presentations Dr S has assessed in the last two decades of working CAMHS and in the family courts.

57. Dr S, not unsurprisingly, speaks of the exceptional skills needed to assist the children. In her oral evidence, Dr S outlined her recommendations for the court, which I summarise here: the best option would be four separate placements. The quality of contact with the parents has not been good and is of little advantage to the children. The guardian, in her final evidence, was able to update the court on the reaction of the children to contact having spoken to all of the foster carers. All the children have difficulties after contact, although B is less disturbed after contact with his mother than contact with his father. B was able to tell the guardian through expressing his feelings, by making happy and sad faces, his wishes and feelings and when asked whether he wanted to live with his father, mother or grandmother, showed a sad face and only a happy face when asked about a forever family, which is how an adoptive placement has been described for B.
58. The presentations of J and C are currently too disturbed for the children’s guardian to discuss those issues with them, both placements being described by the guardian as on the edge. S, the guardian told the court, had been very aggressive in placement, pinching, scratching and hitting her foster carer, refusing to go in the bath or to get into her car child seat.  These behaviours the guardian likened to those of J and C, although of a lesser severity because S is smaller and therefore easier to manage. The guardian described how S is now calming down with the assistance of a play therapist, which involves the foster carer and helps the foster carer to better manage S’s behaviour. S is about to start weekly play therapy sessions.

59. Dr S, in her oral evidence, advocated sibling contact but said that it should be maintained in what she described as a carefully structured environment. Nevertheless, for Dr S, and indeed for the guardian, the placement for the children must be the priority and that placement is the priority even and over and above sibling contact.

60. Dr S observed that contact between the grandparents and J, C and B, but S had not been able to attend that contact because she was unwell. That contact was the second contact she had observed, because she had observed a contact with all four children together, and the contact with the grandparents was described as slightly calmer and the children present with less aggression than when she had observed sibling contact, but Dr S said that, notwithstanding her observations in contact, she was looking for not just good enough parenting but a higher threshold of parenting and she did not find that in her assessment of the grandparents, which of course included the observation of contact.  Dr S in her report analysing the placement needs for the children and whether that could be met by Ms S and Mr C, described how the children need parents who have a secure attachment model because of their own attachment difficulties, and expanded on this in her oral evidence by drawing on the example of Ms S’s relationship with her own children and grandchildren.
61. Ms S, in her oral evidence, described this as close but the psychologist described it as an insecure attachment model and the examples she drew on were grandchild D, who was close in age to B, who is a very regular visitor to the home of the maternal grandmother, staying up to four times a week, and until recently D was not to go to sleep unless in bed with his grandmother, although sleeping in his own bed at home. This was raised by Dr S in her report and Ms S confirmed in her oral evidence that she has since got a bed for D and is beginning to have some success in getting D used to sleeping on his own, but that was an example that Dr S drew on to support her assessment that there are attachment difficulties in Ms S in terms of her own relationship with her grandchild D.

62. Dr S assessed Ms S and Mr C and indicated that they do not have an existing relationship with either B or S and even though her evidence was they might be good enough parents for a less challenging child, these four children have significantly higher levels of need and require therapeutic parenting in order to compensate for their prior experience. Dr S’s evidence was that this analysis applies equally to B and S.  She acknowledged that adopters do not have an existing relationship with children but, nevertheless, the adoption selection process ensures the adopters have secure attachment or earned secure attachment models and have preparation work around more challenging behaviours which children can present.  In short, the evidence of Dr S that adopters are better equipped to parent the children.  Dr S also referred to the risks to J and C if B and S were placed within the family because of the experience of preferential rejection, the older children perceiving it as their fault that they are behaving in a way which prevents them living within the birth family, which could cause C and J to regress or indeed cause delay in their ability to access help.
63. Dr S’s recommendation for B and S was, therefore, adoption rather than a family placement, because of the quality of the grandparents’ attachment styles and the difficulties that this would pose when addressing the challenging behaviours of B and S both now and in the future.

64. She was asked to comment on C’s placement. She gave evidence that C cannot make one‑to‑one relationships and Dr S was very unhappy with the suggestion that C would be placed in a residential unit and had expressed her views very clearly by telephone at the meeting on 11 February 2015. She added that if C went into a residential unit it would mean that he would be in the category of one of the most 50 challenging children under 12 in a residential placement. She did not accept that this was the right placement for C, who needs an intensely supportive placement with at least one male carer and more than one carer. His need is to have a restorative placement to address his attachment difficulties. He would not be able to build that same level of attachment with a member of staff in a residential unit. He needed a family placement with a two‑carer model, male and female, and that should be tried first. She described a multi‑systemic foster placement with what she described as wraparound team consisting of a psychologist, social worker and cluster manager, out‑of‑hours support, sessional work and behavioural and rewards and sanctions all being used within the therapeutic foster placement. She said that none of those methods have been tried to date with C.

65. She said that she would support contacts with parents if the parents were supporting the placement and the children’s welfare was not impacted and the frequency of contact with parents should be sufficient to maintain the relationship between J and C and their parents, and she recommended that to be no less than four times per annum. However, she said very clearly that sibling contact and parental contact are mutually exclusive. If some of a sibling group are having contact with both parents and others are not, it causes problems because the children ask about the parents and the parents ask the siblings about the others, which causes stress and divisions and is undesirable. Dr S would not support a return of any of the children to either parent because of the chronic exposure to poor nurture and violence within the family home, and she added that the children also have a poor relationship with their father.
66. She acknowledged that there were periods when C and B settled with their father when the parents split, but this was because there was an alternative person available to them in the form of Father’s wife, Mrs Mrs H. This she described as an island of better care but still she said that the trauma experienced by the children came through.  Her assessment of Father is that he does not have the insight to offer good enough parenting, let alone restorative parenting. Any return of C or B to their father’s care would reawaken the trauma and would be disastrous. The father needs to demonstrate a change before he could care for C or B.

67. The evidence from K B, the former social worker, was important because her evidence was that the positive assessment of Father during her period as social worker was at a time when he was in a relationship with Mrs H, and it was a strong relationship and, at that time, H was very happy. She said that when cracks appeared in the relationship, this became stressful for H, who was struggling emotionally, but was unable to let his guard down and to accept support from the social worker. She described that when he took the overdose, there was a need for a psychological assessment and it was that assessment that highlighted the fundamental psychological difficulties which had not been picked up earlier, and, once that psychological assessment was available, there was no reason to undertake a parenting assessment of him as a sole carer.
68. Her evidence described Mother as prioritising her lifestyle over her children to the extent that during the parenting assessment meetings happened in the bedroom of the family home because Mother would not ask her friends to leave the home. Mother had done what she described as the minimum in terms of her engagements with professionals.

69. I heard evidence from the maternal grandparents, Ms S, and briefly from Mr C.  Mr Allen, on behalf of the children, began his cross‑examination by acknowledging the grandparents’ commitment to the proceedings and to their grandchildren, and I agree with that sentiment. They have travelled from Scotland. I found them to be honest and reliable witnesses. They did not seek to shy away from some of the more difficult aspects of their case. Ms S readily accepted that her grandson had slept in the same bed as her and that she had now bought him a bed. She did not deny that she had taken J back with her to Scotland last April for two weeks at a time when she had been expressly told not to do that by the Local Authority, who wanted to run the necessary protective checks and had wanted her to wait two weeks until the start of the school Easter holidays. This was undoubtedly headstrong and was not helpful to J, who had a poor attendance record at school and a need for routines and boundaries. Ms S said that she did this because she thought J needed a holiday.

70. Both she and Mr C came across as very family orientated and when she said that she did not allow alcohol in the house when the children were there, I believe her. She herself had a difficult childhood and wanted to do better for her own children. She was able to be critical of her own daughter and described a relationship with M, which was fine at present, but which had been more strained in the past. Her position was clear that she accepted the evidence and the concerns and only wanted the best for her grandchildren. She was very clear that she needed help and had made enquiries about how to access that help for the children in her local area in Aberdeenshire. She has a strong work ethic, as does Mr C.  He is a tanker driver and she is a care assistant working with vulnerable adults.
71. In closing submissions, the Local Authority were critical of the grandparents for comments they made about not needing to give up work if it were B and S that came to live with them, but this was at a time when they did not have the full picture of the behavioural problems of the children, although they have always recognised that C has been very challenging and that J has had her difficulties. They have now each said that they would give up work to care for their grandchildren and it is greatly to their credit that they are willing to do this. They should be praised for their resilience and determination to do what is right by their grandchildren and not criticised in the way that the Local Authority has done.
72. M is now fully behind her mother and partner as providing a home for either B or S, or both, although her preferred position would be for B to go to the grandparents and S to stay with her.

73. Finally, I heard evidence from the children’s guardian. She was clear that her recommendations were unchanged and she stood by her final analysis. When she was first appointed, the children were split with J and S living with their mother and CJ, as she calls C, and B living with their father.

74. The parenting assessment of Mother dated 30 April 2014, concluded that M is currently failing to meet the basic physical and social needs of her children and the long‑term effects are not considered by her through her actions and lack of motivation. The cognitive functioning assessment did not identify a learning disability but advised on the best way of working Mother.

75. A further parenting assessment was completed because Mother had begun another relationship with D B and she wanted to be assessed as a couple. That assessment did not conclude that Mr B was a protective factor. Mother and Mr B have a child together but, because of domestic violence in their relationship, they have separated.

76. On 10 September, when J disclosed at school that the mother’s new boyfriend had been living with them, and had hit her and called J ‘fucked in the head’ Mother admitted that her boyfriend, a teenaged care‑leaver who she had met on the Internet, was staying with her, but denied J’s account of what had occurred. A week later, on 17 September, J and S were made the subjects of interim care orders and placed in foster care.

77. The parenting assessment of Father, dated 31 March 2014, did not see any reason to disrupt C and B, because on balance he appeared to be providing security and stability and made reference to his being supported in his parenting role by his wife H. In June 2014, a joint parenting assessment was completed and Mrs H was found to be a positive and protective factor.

78. On 30 June, Father took an overdose while in the sole charge of CJ and B following a breakdown in his relationship with Mrs H. Mrs H made allegations of domestic abuse in their relationship and unreasonable behaviour, and B and CJ were made the subject of interim care orders on 2 July 2014.
79. The guardian’s analysis is that Mrs H played a significant role and she is supported in that view by Dr P and indeed by Dr S. The guardian’s description of the contact between both parents and the children is poor. She was challenged about that in her oral evidence and agreed that there were some positives but the overall quality of the children was poor. The guardian was so concerned by the presenting difficulties of all the children that she sought a psychological assessment of all four children and the assessment of Dr S dated 11 December features significantly in her analysis.

80. At paragraph 39 in the final analysis, the guardian concludes that all four children would be at significant harm in the care of either parent.  She was questioned about this in the light of the earlier positive parenting assessments of Father and her own views in her initial analysis, which was to support the boys remaining with their father, who appeared to offer them stability. The guardian agreed that there were a number of positives and there had been some improvements in Father’s ability to meet the boys’ needs immediately following separation from Mother. She counted for this in two ways: firstly, the domestic abuse had stopped because the parents were no longer together but, secondly, from very early on Mrs H was on the scene, then of course not H’s wife but his girlfriend. At the time of the guardian’s earlier analysis, Father credited his improvements in his ability to care for the boys to the influence of his wife who, he told the guardian, would correct him and tell him not to be critical of Mother in front of the boys.
81. The guardian was firmly of the view that stability seen in the boys, C and B, was because of the positive role that Mrs H played.  Her view was that without that stabilising influence Father cannot maintain the improvements. He denies all responsibility for the children’s behaviours. He does engage them in play but then makes the completely inappropriate comments to C and B in contact about whose fault it was that the contact had been terminated; and in February, telling B that he was coming home by shouting in his face, ‘I’m going to fight, I’m going to win, you are coming home’. B’s behaviour after contact indicates how he feels about these outbursts and he has indicated a sad face at the prospect of a return to live with his father.  Father has no insight into why the children are in foster care. The guardian said of course children are disrupted when they go into foster care but that move does not cause significant emotional and psychological difficulties.  Father is unable to reflect on his contribution to the children’s difficulties.
82. The guardian refers to a number of assessments of extended family members which, for different reasons, have not been pursued. The viability assessment of Ms S, the maternal grandmother, had recommended further assessments. This further assessment found a number of positives in respect of Ms S and her partner, Mr C, but considered that they would not be able to provide good enough care for children, however, recommended they could care for J and S.  That assessment predated the report of Dr S on the children which raised significant concerns as to the needs of all four children and the requirement for them to be placed separately with carers who were able to provide better than good enough care. By virtue of that, Dr S was asked to undertake a further assessment of Ms S and Mr C.  Dr S in her report dated 16 January 2015, raises concerns about their limited insight into the children’s needs, the level of anxiety in Ms S’s parenting and in their ability to provide secure attachment relationships. Dr S highlights that whilst their parenting might be good enough for a child without the difficulties these children have, the bar is set much higher for J, CJ, B and S. Dr S did not recommend that any of the children were placed with the maternal grandparents.

83. The guardian, in her report, and in her oral evidence, said that she was guided by Dr S.  The guardian supports the Local Authority plan for J, which is long‑term foster care and, although she has not met with J because the placement is in its very early days, she reports that J was pleased with the move.  She fundamentally disagreed with the Local Authority plan for C. She had spoken with C’s foster carer, who is a single female carer, and C’s behaviours have been very challenging. In her oral evidence, she told the court that the foster carer, who has some 20 years of experience, is struggling with C’s behaviour.  It is the view of the foster carer that although she has experience of this type of behaviour, that C is not in the right placement, that he needs a male role model and, although the foster carer has asked for support from the Local Authority, this has not been received. The foster carer was also very clear in her conversations with the guardian that she would try and maintain the placement until the right placement is found for C, saying to the guardian that she is not giving up on C.

84. This is the second foster placement which has broken down because of C’s behaviour, but he has not yet experienced a therapeutic foster placement. In a written report, the guardian said a residential placement might contain CJ, but she would have significant concerns for a child of his age of such a placement being able to meet all his needs. It would involve a number of workers providing supervision and care and, whatever his difficulties, he is an eight‑year‑old child and should have a stable family placement where he is nurtured and able to build relationships with his carers. The guardian would also be concerned about the likelihood of a child of his age, once in residential care, returning to a family placement. The outcomes for children in this situation are extremely poor.
85. Due to the challenge to the care plan in relation to C, it was necessary to hear evidence from Y C, who is the interim assistant director of Coventry Children’s Services. She was cross‑examined about the access to resources meeting which took place on 24 February, which seemed to ignore the recommendations of the meeting dated 11 February 2015, attended by the guardian and Dr S, which had been for a therapeutic foster placement with a male and female couple for C. The decision taken at the access to resources meeting was to identify a residential unit for C. The explanation given in oral evidence by Ms C was that she did not ignore the recommendation of the psychologist but that C’s behaviours are difficult to contain and that extensive searches had been undertaken and no therapeutic foster placement was available. She agreed that if therapeutic carers were available that this would be the best placement for C.
86. At the request of the court, Ms C agreed to provide the analysis and checks and balances in a statement overnight, as the notes of 24 February meeting were very brief. In that statement, she elaborates on the calm and accepting environment within which children are able to heal and develop the capacity to form good attachments in the chosen residential unit, but the prospectus attached to the statement does not on the face of it offer any of the specific work around attachment that have been recommended by the psychologist.

87. The Local Authority, however, having reflected on the strength of opposition to a residential unit, have agreed to extend the search for a therapeutic placement for six weeks before broadening the search to include residential units. The guardian, in evidence, told the court that she herself had made telephone calls which suggested that therapeutic foster placements do become available on a regular basis and she did not accept the placements team had made extensive attempts to find a placement.
88. The amendment to the care plan extending the search for six weeks suggests the guardian was right in her scepticism of the placements team having made extensive searches. I have now heard that the guardian does not accept that there should be any time limit in searching for a therapeutic placement for C, in that he needs a therapeutic placement and his needs would not be met in a residential unit, and expresses her concerns that the Local Authority are not giving significant recognition to the views of the psychologist, and indeed the guardian, in relation to the right placement for C.

89. The guardian is recommending that B and S should be adopted. Her view is that ceasing to be a member of their birth family will significantly improve their opportunities to reach their potential whilst offering them the nurture and care they require, which cannot be offered by their parents. She recognises that B and S, because of their ages, have had less exposure to the damaging parental environment and arguably could be kept within the birth family, but she indicated in her oral evidence that that belies the underlying presentation of both B and S.  B does not kick and scream, he goes the other way. He will not eat properly and will not talk about anything. He simply withdraws. S, although much younger, is outwardly displaying the same types of behaviour as CJ and J but they are just not as noticeable because S is so small.
90. The view of the guardian is that the children all need better than good enough parenting and that none of the adult parties are capable of meeting the needs of any of the children. She agreed with Dr S that adoptive parents are better equipped because of the adoption assessment process, the training given on attachment and challenging behaviours and their ability to provide that extra level of care. She was asked whether the same training and support could be given to Mother and to the maternal grandparents and she agreed that it could but there would be delay whilst it is undertaken and no guarantee it would bring about the necessary change in parenting styles and in any event it would be outside the timescales of B and S.

91. Her views on contact were that she was supportive of the Local Authority’s stance that there should be no sibling contact at the moment but that this should be reviewed. The level of sibling contact should be sufficient to promote the sibling relationship. She would want this explored with the adopters for B and S but would not want it to prevent a placement. She agrees with Dr S that sibling contact should be prioritised over parental contact. The consequence of ongoing contact between siblings would mean letterbox contact only for the parents with CJ and J, who remain in long‑term foster care, but this would need to be reviewed in line with the progress of the children and the recovery of the two older children and of course with the development of sibling contact.

92. The Local Authority is proposing sibling contact at a frequency of three times a year, whereas the guardian proposes more frequent contact.

93. I turn now to my judgment in the light of the evidence I have heard. Father disputes threshold in one important particular, namely that during the course of the parents relationship the children’s emotional needs were neglected by exposure to domestic violence between January 2008 and July 2013. I have to be satisfied on the balance of probabilities that the Local Authority have established the threshold for the commencement of proceedings, because a court can only make a care order if satisfied that the child concerned is suffering or is likely to suffer significant harm, and that is attributable to the care given to the child by his or her parents.

94. There is no dispute that H was convicted of assault on M on 4 February 2008. At that time, she was pregnant with B. On 15 October, she obtained a non‑molestation order and prohibited steps order against H on the grounds set out in her statement in support, which refers to further violence inflicted upon her. M has filed inconsistent and contradictory evidence in these proceedings which seeks to withdraw or retract a statement said in support of a non‑molestation order.

95. The social worker, Ms B, gave evidence that it was difficult to evidence the allegations of domestic violence, but I have very significant corroborative evidence for domestic violence perpetrated on M by H from the children themselves. All four children are exhibiting behaviours indicative of chronic exposure to violence and maltreatment. That is the opinion of the psychologist, Dr S. The three eldest children describe their mother being hurt by their father and being frightened of him within the Bene‑Anthony tests and, if the last incident of domestic violence had been 2008, as Father states, B was not yet born. He would have had no recollection of seeing his mum hurt sometimes by his father. The same would apply to S, the youngest child, who would not have witnessed violence, yet she in foster care has been very aggressive, pinching, scratching her foster carer and self‑soothing, not seeking solace from her foster carer. These are all signs of a child who has been exposed to violence.
96. Father in his closing submissions said that there were other violent partners who the children could have witnessed hurting their mother but the three older children in their conversations with Dr S identified H as the person ‘who hurts Mum sometimes’ and of whom ‘Mum is frightened’.  It is father, H they describe as a bully, not anyone else.

97. I have regard to the psychological assessment of Dr P, which was a very comprehensive assessment and which was based on clinical assessment and observation. Father has character traits which could be regarded as positive in that he has responses that mean that he is more likely than the average person to be frank, sincere and ingenuous, but it is his responses which deal with his ability to deal with stress when he will become hopeless or panic when faced with emergency situations and his marked preference for conflict over cooperation and his watchful mistrust of others which are more important aspects of his personality when considering the evidence of domestic violence.

98. I remind myself of his reaction in a supervised contact on 6 August 2014, when C was misbehaving. C had curled himself up in a ball and refused to go in the car to return to foster care. H picked C up by his elbows, C was kicking and screaming and shouting to be put down and to be left alone. H then restrained C on the ground before picking him up and throwing him into the car, C all the time kicking and screaming ‘leave me alone’ and ‘I never want to see you again’. H in response shouting and screaming and was described by the escort waiting to take C back to the foster placement as aggressive and starting to lose control.  H was described as spitting as he was shouting. The driver intervened to get C into the car whilst the father gave B, sitting in the back of the car, a hug.  C said to his father again that he never wanted to see him again and that he would not go home and even when Father was better. H hearing this, lent in and the driver described how he punched C in the leg.

99. I am satisfied that H in his oral evidence said that it was not the leg but the seat by the leg that was punched. As he did so, he said to C ‘you need a slap’. In his oral evidence, H reiterated that when disciplining C he would do this by smacking him and when he did so he did not have these problems.

100. In my judgment, that description of contact, even as explained by H, is a description of a very violent reaction by H: spitting, screaming, foaming at the mouth are all described. In a very public arena, H behaved like this and I have no reason to believe that he behaves any differently when behind closed doors.  I am satisfied to the requisite standard of proof that H has been violent towards M by pinning her up to the wall by her throat, throwing her to the ground and punching her, and that this behaviour has been seen and/or heard by all the children who are emotionally and mentally scarred and reacting to it still now two years after the separation of their parents.  It is the exposure to domestic violence which is the root cause of the children’s problems and the reason that J, C and S are aggressive and violent and that B turns inwards and withdraws into himself. I am equally satisfied that M is minimising what has occurred.

101. B and C game into care at a time of crisis when their father took an overdose whilst caring alone for the boys. The behaviours of all the children have been extreme. The psychological profiles of the children by Dr S demonstrate the depth of harm to the children. The psychological assessment of Father exposes a personality disorder which explains why Father was unable to cope in a crisis when caring alone for his sons.  Despite his love for his sons, he is ill‑equipped psychologically to provide the empathetic nurturing care that they need. I have regard to the psychological assessment of the children by Dr S and the psychological assessment of Dr P of Father, but the evidential support for their opinions comes from the work done with Father by social workers K B and S C.

102. I remind myself of Father’s oral evidence that he was working and could not be expected to come into the office to discuss better ways of handling C’s behaviour in contact. I have heard evidence from all these witnesses, and Father himself, and I am in agreement with the assessment of him that without therapeutic input to effect change, Father is not able to parent the boys who were in his care, nor S, who has not been his care since the separation of the parents.
103. Whilst in a relationship with Mrs H, the deficiencies in his parenting were compensated by her sensitive and protective parenting. Without her, the cracks soon appeared.

104. Mother’s own parenting assessments identified her weaknesses in her inability to prioritise her children over her lifestyle which involved alcohol, socialising and a succession of inappropriate and violent partners, even when under a child assessment framework, and, in proceedings, she has not demonstrated an ability to work with professionals to access the help she needs and to keep herself safe. She has recently reengaged with the Haven but the work already done with her to identify domestic abuse and to protect herself from it has not given her the insight that she needs.

105. The court recognises that she has a great love for her children and would wish to do anything to have them returned to her care. To her credit, she recognises that she has let them down and that the needs of the two eldest are so great that she cannot offer them what they need.  She has taken the first tentative steps to change and wishes to reengage with Triple P, but has not yet been able to demonstrate that she can live independently. It is submitted on her behalf that the two younger children who are less damaged could be returned to her care or, failing that, S could be returned to her and B be placed with her own mother, Ms S, and her partner.

106. Now that all the evidence is before the court, it has become very clear that B and S are also deeply impacted and traumatised by their experiences. That was the evidence of Dr S, but is also the evidence as relayed by the foster carers of B and S to the guardian and to the social worker.

107. The wishes and feelings work done with B is also very illuminating. All the children need better than good enough parenting and B and S do not have the good attachment models with their caregivers necessary for their welfare. These are children who do not vocalise emotions, in the case of B, and self‑soothe in the case of S.  S of course is having play therapy to address her needs.

108. The children are reacting adversely after contact and it would appear that any reminder of their family, whether their mother, their father or their grandparents is causing emotional harm. The reaction after Mother’s contact is said to be less severe, but any reaction is harmful.  Even sibling contact is marred by conflict and aggression. It is highly unusual for four siblings to be placed separately for their own benefit and yet this is what has happened in this case. The unanimous view of the professionals working with M is that she cannot parent B or S.
109. In my judgment, the analysis of the Local Authority that if the children are returned to either of their parents care that they will be at risk of significant harm is as true for B and S as it is for J and C. It is the particular needs of these children which must determine the outcome. If placement of one with Mother and one with maternal grandmother in a mutually supportive package, and a closely integrated family care arrangement, facilitated by Mother moving to Scotland, is at first blush attractive until I consider the particular needs of B and S; such a fragile, tentative, uncertain arrangement is not good enough for B and S, because it does not begin to address their most basic needs for a strong attachment model of parenting to repair their own damaged attachments.

110. The threshold in my judgment is crossed and I must assess the placements for all four children.  I do so having regard to their welfare and the Welfare Checklist set out both in the Children Act and indeed the Adoption Act.

111. For J, the alternative of long‑term foster care is supported by her parents.  H is not J’s birth father but has been involved in her early upbringing and has always treated her as his daughter.  As this was anticipated, she has already been able to make her move to her matched placement which has the distinct advantage of being the daughter of her previous foster carer and is regarded by J as being given a second chance. J is not having contact with her parents at present but this will be reviewed in the light of her progress in placement and the possibility of promoting sibling contact.

112. H has indicated that he does not want contact if any of the children are in long‑term foster care.  M and the maternal grandparents would like face‑to‑face contact but Mother says she would step back if her own contact prevented J having contact with her younger siblings.

113. C is in foster placement but the placement is on the brink of collapse. In my judgment, the guardian is right to voice opposition to a residential placement for an eight‑year‑old who has a right to have his need for a family life respected. The right therapeutic foster placement needs to be found for him and, in the meantime, his current placement should be supported. There is no alternative for C and he too will be made subject to a care order.

114. The guardian raised the question of continuing the interim care order to monitor progress of the placement search by the Local Authority.  It was put on the basis of a lack of trust in the Local Authority to do as the care plan directs. I have seen an amended care plan to that end and I have also the statement of Ms C, the interim assistant director of Children’s Services. I do not doubt the settled intention to search for six weeks and, in my judgment, C now needs a final decision that he is not going back to his father and that a specialist placement is now being sought.
115. The Local Authority have to manage not only C’s move but shoring up the current placement and that is best done under the looked‑after children provisions rather than subject to ongoing court proceedings. However, the guardian is very clear that six weeks is not a sufficient length of time for the therapeutic placement to be found. Her view is very clear that a therapeutic placement is the right placement for C and should not be given up before a thorough and long search has taken place. I would urge the Local Authority to reconsider a cut off at six weeks. The assessment process should be for as long as is reasonable to find a therapeutic foster placement for C.

116. C is not currently having contact with the parents or the siblings.  Parental contact will be reviewed in the light of his progress in placement and the possibility of maintaining sibling contact.  For B and S, the recommendation of Dr S and the guardian is adoption.  This is the care plan of the Local Authority. That plan is opposed by the parents. The father puts himself forward but I have ruled him out for the reasons given.  Mother supports maternal grandmother and her partner.

117. Because it is such a serious and final step, I must have regard to that fact.  Adoption is a serious step in relation to any child because it severs all legal ties with the family and provides a child with a permanent substitute family where the adopters are legally responsible for fulfilling all the parental responsibility for that child.

118. Because of their position, I am particularly required to focus on the effect of the child throughout his or her life of having ceased to be a member of the original family and becoming an adopted person and I must have regard to the relationship which the child has with his or her relatives which of course means parents, brothers and sisters and, in this case, maternal grandparents.

119. I must also have regard to Article 8 of the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms and the fundamental rights to family life, both for the birth parents but also for the child. I have to be satisfied that it is both necessary and proportionate and that no less radical form of order would achieve the essential end of promoting the welfare of the children.

120. The recent line of authorities deriving from Re B (A Child) [2013] UKSC 33, Re G (A Child) [2013] EWCA Civ 965 and Re B‑S (Children) [2013] EWCA Civ 1146 sets out the following principles which I apply: firstly, that orders contemplating non‑consensual adoption are a very extreme thing, a last resort, only where nothing else will do, only in exceptional circumstances and where motivated by overriding requirements relating to the child’s welfare.  In short, where nothing else will do.  Secondly, the court must explore all possible alternative solutions before reaching a conclusion that a plan of adoption must be pursued. Thirdly, that the judicial exercise in considering those options is holistic rather than linear to include a full and proper evaluation of the draconian nature for any plan for adoption. Fourthly, assessment of the parents’ abilities as potential carers for a child must take into account the assistance and support which the authorities could offer.
121. Before making the adoption order, the court must be satisfied there is no practical way of the authorities providing the requisite support and assistance, and that the Local Authority and guardian have in their final evidence addressed all the options and analysed all the arguments for and against each option. Without such basis, those authorities are clear there is no proper basis for a judicial decision and the absence of such analysis is unacceptable in a forensic context where the issues are so grave and the stakes for both child and parent are so high.
122. It is for all of those reasons that I consider anxiously the application by the maternal grandparents, who are unrepresented, and have travelled from Scotland to participate in these proceedings.  I have already said that are honest and straightforward people who have a genuine interest in their grandchildren and their own children and want to what they can to keep the family together. They have a good track record in the care of their own children.  They remain a close and supportive family. Mother and grandmother have not always seen eye-to-eye but are open about this and have more recently reconciled their differences.
123. The positives of the grandparents are that they offer a family placement which would allow the children to be brought up within their birth family and with the full knowledge and understanding of their own family. There is a very real possibility that the older siblings might experience preferential rejection and regress in their own placements which could impact on the younger siblings during sibling contact. The other positive is that they present as a couple and there are extended family members in a busy household with all the stimulation and fun which comes from that. The downside of that for B and S is that it is the conflicts in their own sibling relationship which has dictated the need for separate placements, the recommendations in this case being for sole placements.
124. I must, therefore, ask the further question which is whether either B or S could be placed alone with the grandparents. Preferential rejection could again be a difficulty but that alone would not be a good enough reason for not placing one child with the birth family if it was within that child’s best interests.
125. It is said by the grandparents, and indeed on their behalf, by Mr Bainham who represents the mother, that there were some positive aspects identified in their parenting by the special guardianship assessors who recommended that they could care for J and S.  It is an anomaly in these proceedings that there is that assessment which is quite different in its outcome and is contradicted by the assessment of Dr S, but in this case there is a very significant change between the time when the special guardianship assessors were looking into Ms S and Mr C to such an extent that the assessment at that time is now overtaken by the report of Dr S into the continuing extreme behaviours of the children shown in foster care and the reasons for that extreme behaviour.
126. It is my evaluation of that evidence which is crucial to my decision making. Dr S was a very impressive witness, not just her reports in this case but the wealth of experience she brings to her assessments. I cannot ignore or dismiss her very significant findings and recommendations for the four children.  She says they are troubled children and that has not been seriously challenged. She says that they are amongst the most troubled children she has ever encountered and that has not been challenged. It is her assessment that they need better than good enough parenting. They need restorative parenting. Dr S would not distinguish between the four, save to say that the two younger children were less damaged.
127. The guardian’s description of B after a contact where his father said he was coming home, and of S before her play therapy started, were a glimpse of the problems ahead for any carers for B and S.
128. Dr S, having assessed the children and, therefore, well aware of the task ahead, was asked to assess the grandparents as carers for the two younger children. The grandparents were as open with Dr S as they were with the court. They did not dissemble. They answered all questions, even the most personal in a full and frank manner. They cannot be faulted for their cooperation with the process. They were criticised for not considering the impact on their family of the arrival of the two extra grandchildren.  In my judgment, that was an unfair criticism. They have made considerable effort to research the support available, to make the enquiries about schools, and they have discussed their proposals with their own daughter aged 15, who is taking her Scottish primary exams, but this is a family where S is encouraged to work in her bedroom and to take herself away from the hurly‑burly of family life. The younger children would learn to respect S’s private space. That is not the issue here. It is that the children need therapeutic parenting to compensate for their prior experiences, a bar that is set much higher than good enough parenting.
129. Dr S highlights the difficulties that both the grandparents are in employment and it would require one or both to give up work, which would have financial consequences.  She also highlights that there are logistical issues in that the house is small, with just one spare bedroom, and the distances involved in travelling to and from Scotland for purposes of contact would not be insignificant. Those difficulties in my judgment are not insurmountable and Mr C is well‑suited to driving the distances required for contact and is willing to do so. There was a good awareness in my judgment of the need to supervise contact between the children and M.
130. The decision that I must make and issues in this case are because of a much more subtle difficulty.  It is the need for Ms S to change her attachment style in order to be able to offer what is needed for these children.  With more securely attached children, this would not be a problem but nurturing the attachment is the single most important need for B and for S.  If that is not right, the rest of the parenting will be ineffectual. B has also in a very childish way indicated a desire for a placement outside his own family. Sadly, what is the single most positive aspect of a family placement, namely to be able to stay within the birth family, is contraindicated in this case. The impact of contact with any family members, whether parents, grandparents or siblings, is so great that it cannot be ignored by the court.  The children demonstrate heightened emotions of fight or flight and that is a response activated by any contact with the birth family.  The children’s reactions, in my judgment, are so severe that the welfare of the children requires a placement outside the family now.
131. I have considered the balance sheet checklist prepared by S C and the balancing exercise completed by the guardian. I have not been pressed to consider a long‑term foster placement for B and S.  Firstly, because there is a strong recommendation of sibling contact, even in an adoptive placement, but also because the arguments in favour of such a placement for any five and three‑year‑old are always outweighed by advantages of an adoptive placement because of the stability and permanency offered by the commitment adopters give to the adoption.
132. In this case, B and S have that need for a nurturing, permanent family placement which offers them a fresh start and a committed family. Long‑term fostering is less stable and has the disadvantage that the children remain in statutory care for many years.  It is both the proportionate and right decision for B and S that they should each have the opportunity to forge new attachments in a family they can call their own through an adoptive placement.
133. I would endorse the recommendation of the guardian that sibling contact be actively promoted with prospective adopters, because later, as the children mature and are better able to regulate their emotions, they will derive enormous benefit from an understanding of their background and shared experience through contact with their siblings. The care plan recommends contact should be three times per annum. The guardian would prefer four times per annum and she is right to say that if children are to have contact it should be of sufficient frequency to maintain their relationship. There should be indirect letterbox contact for the parents with B and S.
134. I am going to make care orders for B and S.  The welfare of the two youngest children also requires that I dispense with the consent of M and H to the adoption of B and S so that placement orders can be made.
135. The remaining issue is contact. It is argued on behalf of Mother that there is a duty under Section 34 for the Local Authority to allow reasonable contact, which requires the Local Authority to apply for an order under Section 34(4) if they wish to refuse to allow contact.  No such application has been made here because it is the Local Authority intention to allow contact dependent on the progress of J and C in placement and dependent on the progress of sibling contact. If adopters are found who will permit sibling contact that would militate against parental contact for the two older children, certainly in the early stages of placement. As the placements become more settled and secure, the contact could be reviewed. I am asked to say that reasonable contact must mean direct contact. There is no definition in Section 34 and it is defined in Hershman & McFarlane as such contact as is agreed between the Local Authority or is objectively reasonable.
136. There is no duty to allow contact for grandparents, although as relatives of the child there is a duty to promote contact. With the permission of the court, the grandparents can make an application for contact under Section 34.
137. The court is not well placed to make definitive orders for contact at this time, because the immediate concern is the placement for the children. Once placed, the two preconditions will become certainties. It will be known how J and C are progressing in placement and whether there will be sibling contact. At that stage, there will either be agreement or dispute.  The looked‑after children procedures are well‑suited to deal with contact and if sibling contact is predicated on no parental contact, the Local Authority would be well advised to seek Section 34(4) orders if there is no agreement, although I would expect that agreement from the parents to no contact to be a minimum requirement for prospective adopters contemplating sibling contact postadoption.
138. In the meantime, contact with B and S will be reduced to bimonthly in line with the proposals for J and C until matching and placement of their adopters, when of course the parents will be offered a goodbye contact in line with the care plan.
139. The grandparents’ contact I would also expect to be reviewed in the looked‑after children process but, as the judgment has indicated, if the grandparents are not satisfied with the review of their own arrangements for contact, then they would need to seek permission from the court and, in this case, I will reserve any applications by the grandparents for permission to seek contact with their grandchildren to myself as I am the judge best able to consider such an application for permission.
140. In respect of the care orders for all four children, I am satisfied the threshold has been cross and, having reviewed the care plans, with the reservation in respect of the length of time that a therapeutic foster placement will be sought for C, I approve the care plans and that of course in the case of the two younger children is to approve a care plan for adoption.
_______________________


